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History & Cultural Heritage

1. History of Queen Elizabeth Park

The history of the district now within the Queen Elizabeth Park is well recorded in

a number of archival and published sources. Dating from the 1830s, and continuing
through to the 1880s, it was a significant occupation site for local Maori centering on the
villages of Whareroa and Wainui. As this occupation declined, the land was taken up
by the European farmers who had moved into the area. In the mid-twentieth century, a
new occupation occurred. Although the encampment of United States Marines during
World War II lasted only a few years, its impact was significant. Soon after, the land
used for camps was considered as suitable for a large regional park, one of Wellington’s
first. From 1953, Queen Elizabeth Park provided recreation facilities for residents from
the wider Wellington region. From 1990, it has been under the management of the
Wellington Regional Council.

1.1 Early Maori occupation

In Maori tradition it is recorded that the voyager Kupe, came to Te Whanganui a Tara
(now known as Wellington Harbour) as part of his extensive travels. Several place
names within the harbour and in the surrounding district have come from Kupe.!

The next recorded explorer was Whatonga. Settlement of the lower North Island was
undertaken by peoples who claimed descent from Whatonga. These included Ngai
Tara, Rangitane, Muaupoko and Ngati Apa. These iwi extended out from Wellington
over to Porirua harbour and along the western coast. At the beginning of the nineteenth
century, the Kapiti Coast was generally occupied by the Muaupoko and Ngati Apa
peoples.? The land that is currently located within the Queen Elizabeth Park was an
important area of occupation. The waterways between the sandhills were so numerous
that it was said that canoes could be paddled from Paekakariki to Waikanae.?

In 1819 and 1821, two significant raids from the north brought the people of the
Horowhenua and Kapiti coasts into conflict with Ngapuhi, Ngati Toa, Ngati Whatua,
Waikato and Maniapoto. Soon after this, a series of migrations to the western coast from
Kawhia and Taranaki occurred and brought groups such as Ngati Toa, Ngati Mutunga,
Ngati Tama, Te Atiawa, Ngati Raukawa and several others to different places around
the district. The migrations began from Kawhia in 1821 when Ngati Toa, Ngati Rarua
and Ngati Koata left their homelands having faced an increasingly hostile relationship
with several Waikato groups. They travelled to northern Taranaki and were given
refuge by the local iwi. As pressure from northern iwi continued to build, by 1822

both Kawhia and northern Taranaki groups undertook a great heke (migration) south
travelling down to the Rangitikei area.

Waitangi Tribunal Te Whanganui a Tara me ona takiwa. Wellington:Waitangi Tribunal, 2003, pp.17-43
Janet Davidson in Baldwin, Olive, Kapiti Coast: history of New Zealand’s Paraparaumu Beach,
Paraparaumu airport and Kapiti Island, Paraparaumu, Fields Publishing House, 1993, p.32

Geoff Thompson in Baldwin, op cut, p.58
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Rangihaeata and whanau, possibly in the vicinity of Whareroa.*
Oliver, Richard Aldworth 1811-1889 :Rangi-Hira (Flash of Lightning), the wife of the chief Rangihaeta.
Alexander Turnbull Library. C-054-020

Although initially the relationship with the local Ngati Apa and Muaupoko people was
peaceful, over time matters deteriorated until a general warfare erupted. At around
1823, Te Rauparaha and Ngati Toa, in addition to a number of northern Taranaki
peoples, conquered and occupied Kapiti Island. By 1824, the tribes of Whatonga-descent
from all over the southern North Island and northern South Island gathered together

a large fighting force to attack Ngati Toa on Kapiti Island. At the battle of Waiorua,
however, the Whatonga tribes were defeated. Soon after this battle, a significant heke
named Nihoputa came south from Taranaki and took up places formerly occupied by
the Whatonga people many of whom had fled after their defeat at Waiorua.® On the
arrival of this migration, land was apportioned by Ngati Toa to the various groups

for settlement. One section of land, originally known as Ngapaipurua and stretching
from Te Uruhi to Paekakariki, was apportioned to Te Puketapu who established
themselves at several places including Whareroa (now located within Queen Elizabeth
Park).® Tamiora Love later suggested that when Puketapu arrived in the Whareroa
district, Ngati Huri were in occupation but that they moved on down to the Arapaoa
(Arapawa) Island in the Marlborough Sounds.” Crown official Donald McLean later
recorded the ceremony that took place in recognition of the land transfer:

The Ngatiawa [including Puketapu] after their arrival assisted in finally
conquering the district. They presented the Ngatitoa at a public feast with
two large canoes and other produce on which occasion the Ngatitoa chiefs
publicly transferred their rights...8

The documentation at Alexander Turnball Library suggests that the coastline behind the whanau group is
the Paekakariki Coast. If this is the case, then this group could be located at one of the villages to the north
of Paekakariki, either Wainui or Whareroa

Waitangi Tribunal, op cit, pp.17-43

Native Land Court, Wellington Minute Book No.2, p.234

Tbid, p.219

26 Nov 1850, Donald McLean to the Colonial Secretary, Appendices to the Journals of the House of
Representatives, [AJHR] 1861, C1, p.258
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It has been said, that about ten years after Puketapu had been in occupation, Ngati
Maru took up their first occupation around Whareroa.’ Tamiora Love later claimed that
Ngati Maru came to Whareroa as a result of an unnamed Ngati Maru woman marrying
a chief in Wanganui named Arama Karaka. When this chief brought his new wife to live
at Whareroa, her Ngati Maru whanau later came as well.'> However, great changes were
to occur within a matter of years.

By the late 1820s, Ngati Raukawa, who had close links with Te Rauparaha, came to

the Horowhenua coast from Waikato and in 1832, further northern Taranaki people
also came south. The increased numbers of people and their various interconnections
brought tensions among the Kawhia and Taranaki groups located on the western coast
especially as Ngati Raukawa traditionally had been enemies of northern Taranaki iwi.
By 1834, these tensions erupted into a battle named Haowhenua which took place in the
Otaki district between Ngati Raukawa on the one side and Taranaki iwi on the other.
These groups were assisted by several others including different Ngati Toa hapu on
each side. Although the battle itself is regarded as being inconclusive, it signaled the
end of the general alliance that had existed between the northern migrants.

It also destabilised the occupation of the Horowhenua, Kapiti and Wellington districts
as various groups feared reprisals and ongoing conflict. Several major migrations
resulted. Ngati Mutunga left Wellington for the Chatham Islands. Northern Taranaki
groups took up increased residence on their lands in Nelson and Marlborough.

In addition, many groups changed their occupation places along the western coast.

Te Atiawa groups were said to have retired south of the Kukutauaki Stream, just to the
north of Waikanae. The Ngati Toa chief Ropata Hurumutu crossed over from Kapiti
and built and occupied the Wainui pa with Ngati Haumia. Aperahama Mitikakau and
his Ngati Maru people, moved north from their previous occupation in the vicinity of
Titahi Bay and occupied Whareroa Pa where some Ngati Maru were already living.'?
Ngati Maru were also living at the small settlement of Tipapa (within the park area), a
place said to have been given to them by the Ngati Toa chief Te Pani. Tipapa remained
occupied until about 1840 although both Whareroa and Wainui remained as important
villages for much longer.'

After the realignment of occupation that took place following the battle of Haowhenua,
relations with neighbouring peoples could be sometimes difficult. In 1837 it was

said that the Ngati Maru of the Whareroa district insulted the Te Atiawa chief
Reretawhangawhanga. A war party of four hundred men assembled and travelled from
Waikanae to Whareroa. Reretawhangawhanga chose not to kill the Whareroa people
but as retribution for the insult that had been made, he destroyed the potato crops of
the Whareroa people.!*

9 Native Land Court, Wellington Minute Book No.2, p.235

10 Tbid, p.211

Waitangi Tribunal, op cit, pp.17-43

Carkeek, Wakahuia The Kapiti Coast: Maori history and place names, Christchurch, Capper Press, 1978
(reprint), p.42

13 Ibid, pp.42 and 144

14 Tbid, p.43

12
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1.2 The arrival of Europeans

From the 1830s onwards, European ships, including whaling boats, regularly took up
moorings in between Kapiti Island and the coast as this stretch of waterway provided
a safe anchorage. Shore-based stations were located on the Island and along the coast
from the early 1830s. At their peak, in 1839, the stations operated 23 boats and collected
466 tuns of oil. One of the stations was at Wharemauku pa, in close proximity to the
park and located at Raumati.’> Within eight years, however, the peak had passed.

In 1847 only three boats operated and their yearly harvest was 29 tuns of oil.!®

One of the Pakeha who inhabited the western coast before the signing of the Treaty

of Waitangi was Edward Bolton who had come to New Zealand in 1837 as a whaler.
He went to live at Whareroa with a Ngati Maru woman although it is not recorded who
she was or how long he stayed there.'” At some time before 1840, Evans, the owner of a
local whaling establishment, needed a large quantity of timber to build various works
at his station on Kapiti Island. He made arrangements with Ngati Toa chiefs Ropata
Hurumutu and Tungia to cut a stand of white pine that was located in the vicinity

of Whareroa. The payment was blankets, guns and “a little” rum. Bolton, who, was
asked to oversee the project, later noted: “I was there for two or three weeks and thirty
or forty natives were employed in getting the timber from the ground which was a

big swamp.” The spars, some of which measured almost 60 feet, were dragged to the
Whareroa stream and then floated down to the sea. Altogether 63 logs were got out in
this manner and once at sea were lashed together into a raft and towed to

Kapiti Island.™®

From 1839, however, the days of the whalers were giving way to more intensive
European settlement. In 1839, the New Zealand Company arrived in Wellington with
plans of establishing a colony. Amid rumours that the British Government would soon
intervene in New Zealand to seek sovereignty over the islands, the Company had fitted
out a ship named the Tory and their officials voyaged to New Zealand to buy land for
their colonisation scheme. As settlement became established, Company officials toured
the surrounding district. In March 1840, when Edward Jerningham Wakefield journeyed
to Whanganui, he travelled along the beach highway that is now located within Queen
Elizabeth Park.

The day was again extremely hot, with scarcely a breath of wind stirring;
and 1 repeatedly stopped to sit down and eat a water-melon. We crossed
several small streams, at the mouth of which were fortified villages. These
were Wainui or ‘large river’; Whareroa, or ‘long house’... At each of these
I was pressed by some of the inhabitants to ‘haera ki uta’ or ‘go inland’,
meaning me to accept of their hospitality; but I had determined to get to
Waikanae and so refused them all.*?

This beach highway remained an important travel route north. The Wellington to
Wanganui mail service was established in 1841.2° Dating from the 1840s, a Cobb and Co.
route between Wellington and the north proceeded along the western beach including
the area now within the park. The beach would remain the main thoroughfare in the
area for many decades.?! By the late 1850s, it is said that large carriages capable of

15 Wellington Regional Council, Queen Elizabeth Park Management Plan, Part 2 Resource Statement, Wgtn,

Wellington Regional Council, July. 1993 , p.46

Cyril Browne in Baldwin, op cit, pp.52-3

Carkeek, op cit, p.48

18 Tbid, p48

19 Wakefield, Edward Jermingham, Adventure in New Zealand, New York, De Capo Press, 1971 (reprint) p.98
20 A.C. Wilson in Baldwin, op cit, p.101

2l Geoff Thompson in Baldwin, op cit, p.58
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carrying 24 passengers with 20lb of luggage each and pulled by up to six horses were
plying the coastal route. It is also said that an accommodation house, of which there
were many along the route, was being operated at Whareroa.?? By 1865 a vehicular road
had been established over the hills from Pauatahanui to Paekakariki along the same
route as the Hill road is today. This brought more traffic heading north. At Paekakariki,
wheeled transport would access the beach and travel north from there, fording the
various streams along the way. The use of the beach road continued and although never
established as a legal road the beach route was named Old Coach Road. By the turn of
the twentieth century, the beach road was still in use providing access for the beachfront
sections that were being developed at Raumati and Paraparaumu.?

Use of the Paekakariki Beach Highway, c.1840s.24
[Brees, Samuel Charles] 1810-1865 :[Group of Maori and pakeha near beach, probably Paekakariki looking towards Pukerua.
Between 1842 and 1845]. Alexander Turnbull Library. B-031-004

1.3 A snapshot into life at Whareroa in 1846

Several of the Wellington regional parks have a connection with the pursuit of the
Ngati Toa chief Te Rangihaeata that took place in 1846 after a series of disturbances in
the Hutt Valley between Maori who were in occupation and the colonial troops acting
under Governor Grey’s directions. The background to this situation is described in the
Resource Statement for Battle Hill Farm Forest Park. Amidst reprisals between troops
and Maori who had been forced to leave the Hutt Valley, escalation of events led to the
killing on 2 April 1846 of two settlers who had remained in the Hutt. This was followed
by an attack on Boulcott’s Farm on 16 May resulting in six British soldiers

being killed. Although these attacks involved Whanganui Maori who had Ngati
Rangatahi affiliations, Te Rangihaeata’s men were implicated with being involved.
Plans were laid to attack the chief’s pa located at Pauatahanui. On 30 July, a party of
militia and police, as well as 160 Te Atiawa under the chiefs Te Puni and Wi Tako, set
off from the Hutt to converge on Te Rangihaeata’s pa. This group travelled the Maori
track that leads through Belmont Regional Park. When they reached the pa site at
Pauatahanui, they found it deserted and set off in pursuit of Te Rangihaeata. Eventually,
in the Horokiri Valley, they encountered Te Rangihaeata’s party in a makeshift
fortification which was attacked. [A full account of the battle is detailed in the Resource
Statement for the Battle-Hill Farm Forest Park.] After several days, Te Rangihaeata’s
party left the battleground traveling northwards through the hills.

22 Wellington Regional Council 1993, op cit, p.47

23 Gtanley Ellen in Baldwin, op cit, p.97

24 The documentation at Alexander Turnball Library suggests that the coastline behind the group may be the
Paekakariki Coast.
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Te Atiawa forces caught up with Te Rangihaeata’s party several
days later and a brief skirmish occurred on Pouaha Hill behind the
Paripari pa of Paekakariki. Maori from Wainui pa had been involved
in this engagement.

British soldier William Tyrone Power had been involved in the
pursuit of Te Rangihaeata but had returned to Porirua after the
Horokiri battle. On hearing of the news that Te Rangihaeata had
been found and engaged, he travelled north towards Wainui pa.
Power noted that after a slow journey of clamouring over rocks
before Paekakariki, the road to Wainui was over “a fine beach, as
hard and as smooth as a macadamised road.”?

As 1 approached Wainui, I could distinctly hear shots in the
mountains above, showing that the fighting was still going
on, so I quickened my pace in hopes of joining our party
before nightfall.

When Power reached Wainui, he found Captain Stanley, a
detachment of seamen from the frigate Calliope and armed police
under Major Durie. Together Power and Stanley decided it was too
late in the day to try to ascend the hills and join the fighting but
resolved to go first thing the following morning. This was not to
occur, however.

Both his good intentions and mine were knocked on the head,

Ropata Hurumutu and his wife Oriwia, with, however, by the arrival of a party of the Wainui people from the
Hohepa Tamaihengia and his wife Riria [date unknown] scene of action who told us that the whole force would be down in

Alexander Turnball Library

the course of the evening. Presently the main body made its
appearance, all of them apparently in high glee, shouting,
laughing and firing their muskets as they came along. ...

There had been casualties, however, with several killed and news of this changed the
mood of things with Power recording “...the arrival of the parties bearing the bodies
of the dead and wounded changed the laughing shouts into lamentation and the loud
wailing tangi arose from all sides.”?

It appears that Te Rangihaeata and his people had again been able to slip away.

Power learnt from eyewitnesses that the fugitives were in a bad way facing starvation.
In fact reports from several of Rangihaeata’s party who came down from the hills and
surrendered confirmed that some persons had starved to death during the pursuit from
the Hutt.”® Power set about ensuring that the Maori allies who had come down from the
hill to Wainui were well provisioned.

I made arrangements with Urumutu [sicl, the chief of Wainui, to furnish
the friendly native with 30001bs. of pork and 300 baskets of kumeras; and
I procured some flour and tobacco from Kapiti. I had no money to make
these purchases, but Urumutu was perfectly satisfied to take a [cheque]
payable at Porirua or Wellington. It was a pleasant instance of candid and
unsuspicious trustfulness....?

% Power, William Tyrone Sketches in New Zealand, with pen and pencil: from a journal kept in that country
July 1846 to June 1848, Christchurch: Capper Press edition, 1974, p.25

26 Tbid, pp.25-6

¥ Tbid, p.26

28 29 Aug 1846, New Zealand Spectator and Cook’s Strait Guardian. Also Power, op cit. p.27

Power, op cit, p.27



On 21 August, as the tangi continued, Power decided to return to Porirua. Three days
later he was back at Wainui to see what decision had been reached regarding the
pursuit of Te Rangihaeata. He found that a major hui was taking place. Two rows of
temporary huts had been raised each 100 feet long. Speeches were made and a hangi of
the pork and potatoes organised by Power and Hurumutu had been put down. A major
feature of the hui was a haka which Power estimated involved 600 people.® It began
with the groups organised into two sections of Ngati Toa under Puaha and Wellington
Te Atiawa under Wi Tako. These two groups fought a mock battle beginning with an
attempt to creep up towards each other as if to achieve surprise. Then “within a

short distance of each other, they suddenly started up and rushed together with a
terrific yell.”3! Both groups then formed into one line and the Wainui people joined in.
Power described the impact the haka had on him.

One must suppose hell to have broken loose to imagine such yells, screams,
hideous contortions of face and body, firing guns, clashing tomahawks and
frightful sights and sounds. Many of the women joined in the dance,
nearly naked, throwing up their arms, distorting their faces, and every
muscle convulsed....>

Following such a display of power and defiance, the gathered Maori groups decided
that they would not pursue Te Rangihaeata and that matters were to rest.

Therefore, Te Rangihaeata and his people reached Ngati Raukawa supporters further to
the north. He ensconced himself at Poroutawhao, a swamp pa belonging to Ngati Huia
of Ngati Raukawa of whom Te Rangihaeata was also a chief. The Government took no
further action to dislodge him. With the fighting over Te Rangihaeata remained

at Poroutawhao.

1.4 The purchase of land in the Whareroa District

The villages of Wainui and Whareroa remained important centres of occupation.

In 1847, it was reported that 450 acres of land were in cultivation at Wainui. The land
around the pa was all sand and not suitable for cultivations, so the potato and kumara
grounds were located some distance away.*

During 1849, the Native Secretary Henry Tacy Kemp, travelled around all the kainga of
the greater Wellington district, including Wainui and Whareroa, and reported in some
detail on the features of each settlement. In the case of Wainui, the people were in the
process of moving from their old village to a new site nearby. Kemp reported:

Wainui is one of the new villages laid down by the Government. It is a
desirable situation for a settlement of the kind, as it not only has the benefit
of being near the coast, with a very fair share of good land, but it also has
the additional advantage of being close to the new public road and may

now easily convey their wheat either by land or water to the mill at Porirua
in which the Natives of Wainui have a share... At Wainui, the Natives
have commenced again to clean the flax, and is usually their evening’s
occupation. The old or present Wainui pa is in a state of dilapidation and
unhealthy, but in the course of a few months the Natives will probably
remove to the new village which is more sheltered and in every other respect
more convenient. They have a Day School under the superintendence of one

30 Ibid, p.29

31 29 Aug 1846, New Zealand Spectator and Cook’s Strait Guardian.
32 Power, op cit, pp.29-30

3 Native Land Court, Wellington Minute Book No.2, p.215
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of the young chiefs and apparently well conducted. Their cultivations are in
good order, particularly the kumara, and the soil at the head of the valley is
very rich although the extent of land is very limited.>

A total of 195 persons resided at Wainui, 31 of these being children. A majority of 157
persons were recorded as belonging to the Church of England, the rest being Wesleyans.
Sixty one persons were noted as being able to read and write and a further seven

being able to read. Thirty three students were attending the school. The settlement was
made up of 40 huts and two churches. Nine war canoes were recorded. Stock included
nine horses, nine cows and two sheep, but also 40 pigs and 30 goats. Three acres of
wheat were being grown as well as five acres of maize, 18 acres of potatoes, three acres
of kumara and a further acre of other garden produce. Half a ton of flax had been
prepared for market.®

Of the neighbouring village of Whareroa, Kemp recorded that Mitikakau remained
the chief.

Although the pa is small, it is one of the most compact and in perhaps better
order than any I have yet visited. Their cultivations which are some little
distance inland are also in excellent order and they appear, on the whole, to
be a very industrious little body of people. They have two weatherboarded
barns, and several stacks of wheat unthreshed and they also prepare a
considerable quantity of flax for the European market... They have cattle
and horses and appear to be in a very healthy and prosperous state.*

A total of 100 persons lived at Whareroa including 23 children. As with Wainui, most
of the people (76 persons) belonged to the Church of England and the rest were
Wesleyans. Although there was no school at the village, 12 persons could read

and a further 21 persons could read and write. The kainga was made up of 32 huts and
one church. Kemp counted ten war canoes belonging to the village. Although only four
horses and nine cattle were recorded, 100 pigs were also owned. Cultivations included
three acres of wheat, four of maize, 13 of potatoes and seven of kumara. Two and half
tons of flax was ready for market.>”

On 26 November 1850, Land Purchase Officer Donald McLean wrote to the Colonial
Secretary that various Te Atiawa groups had expressed a wish to transact land at
Whareroa. He had learnt, however, that Ngati Toa, although acknowledging Te Atiawa
rights to “possess and occupy” the land, objected to their dealings and claiming the
primary title to the land. In response, Te Atiawa, whilst acknowledging that Ngati Toa
that were the “original conquerors”, noted that they had needed the assistance of other
groups such as themselves to hold the lands against Muaupoko, Ngati Apa and Ngati
Kahungunu.® For the moment, the matter was left in abeyance.

There were also tensions at this time between the Taranaki groups who occupied the
Whareroa area. Some wished to sell the land and return to Taranaki where increasing
troubles between Maori and settlers were arising.* Others, however, wished to remain.
During these negotiations, Ngati Maru sought to survey the land, but it is said that the
Puketapu chief Pirimona seized an axe and cut the survey chain.*

34 1 Jan 1850, H.T. Kemp to Colonial Secretary, found in the New Munster Gazette, 21 Aug 1850, VolL.III No.16,
Pp75-6

% Ibid, p.76

3 Ibid

% Tbid

38 26 Nov 1850, Donald McLean to the Colonial Secretary, Appendices to the Journals of the House of
Representatives, [AJHR] 1861, C1, p.258

3 Native Land Court, Wellington Minute Book No.2, pp.239-40

40 Ibid, p.211



Eventually, Ngati Toa were said to have offered the land for sale to the Government
in the late 1850s. They soon found that some resident hapu such as Puketapu and
Ngati Maru were not in favour.*! Hamapiria Waiho later noted: “The people armed
themselves with axes to kill the elders. On the arrival of the Ngati Toa matters took a
more amicable turn. The Ngati Toa said ‘Let a reserve be made for those who do not
wish to sell.””#

On 27 November 1858, Crown Lands Officer Searancke reported that a purchase had
been completed for £850 for a block estimated as being 34,000 acres and stretching all
the way from the Whareroa stream four and a half miles to the south and over into
the hills. Therefore land now included in the Queen Elizabeth Park had been acquired
through this transaction. Whereas 5,000 acres was pastoral land, the rest was bushy

History & Cultural Heritage

and heavily timbered. Several reserves were made two of which were within the

park boundaries: 135 acres at Wainui and 17 acres at Whareroa.* It was claimed that
Pirimona of Puketapu had excepted the land from sale.* In addition, a 50-acre reserve
was made for the Puketapu chief Tamati te Whakapakeke.* Of these reserves Searancke
later wrote: “The reserves appear to be large; but when the number of natives resident
within the boundaries is taken into consideration they could not in justice be

made smaller.”4¢

1.5 The decline of Maori settlement

In the decades after the sale of the surrounding land, the occupation of Wainui and
Whareroa gradually declined. For a period in the 1860s, however, government officials
feared that these villages, and others in the area, might become centres of insurrection
as troubles over land developed within Taranaki. In September 1860, Searancke, who
was involved in land purchasing activities over in the Wairarapa, received news for him
to return to Wellington as there were rumours of happenings among the Maori of the
western coast that caused concern in those ever-cautious times. The concern was mainly
due to the fear that the various groups of Maori who had originated from Taranaki

and who were then dispersed throughout the Horowhenua, Kapiti and Heretaunga
(Hutt Valley) districts, may respond and join their relations in Taranaki who were
beginning to support the King Movement and its increased opposition to Pakeha
settlement. In Wellington, Searancke was told the following story of Wi Tako, the

Te Atiawa chief of the Heretaunga.

On the 7% [September] Wi Tako, with about thirty seven
followers in all and an escort of thirty men from Waikanae and /
Whareroa who had arrived two days previously, left the Hutt

for Waikanae. They were all mounted on horseback marching
in regular order two and two, were nearly all armed with either
single or double barrelled quns and the majority had either two WAINUI

or three cartridge boxes full of ammunition.*”

The groups travelled the 36 miles to Whareroa and arrived there

four days later. T
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Purchase Map of Wainui Block, November 1858

41 Ibid, p.237

2 Tbid, p.205

43 27 Nov 1858, Searancke to the Chief Commissioner , AJHR, 1861, C1, p.283

# Native Land Court, Wellington Minute Book No.2, p.236

% Ibid, p.237

4 ¢ July 1859, Searancke to the Chief Commissioner , AJHR, 1861, C1, p.285

47" 28 September 1860, Searancke to McLean, Alexander Turnball Library, [ATL] MS-Copy-Micro-0535-004 11
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They ....at once proceeded in company with the residents there to cultivate
and plant all the old plantations. These completed, they felled a large piece
of bush for later planting. On Tuesday last, the 25", Wi Tako and party
arrived at Waikanae having strongly urged all the Natives of Wainui,
Whareroa and Uruhi to be strong and industrious to plant food

for themselves.

Searancke explained that increased planting was not only occurring in this location, but
all the way up the coast as far as Whanganui. On investigation, Searancke found that
Whareroa, Wainui and other Maori were preparing themselves for any emergency that
might arise in those increasingly turbulent times. Searancke also recorded:

“They all, both the old residents and the new arrivals express themselves
anxious that peace should be preserved in this district and 1 am still of
opinion that no outbreak or disturbance of any sort will take place without
some extraordinary provocation.”

After the wars in Taranaki, the villages of Wainui and Whareroa seem to have declined
over the following decades. In 1874, the census recorded only 8 persons at Whareroa all
of whom were adults. At Wainui, there were 14 people - eight adults over 15 years old,
and six children. Four years later, in 1878, the census recorded 20 persons at Whareroa
— 12 adults over 15 years old and 8 children. At Wainui there were only six people, one
of whom was a child.*

G.L. Adkin later told Carkeek that during the 1890s when he was a boy, he visited
Whareroa pa where he saw houses that were still occupied by Maori. When he revisited
the site a few years later, the houses had gone and the place was deserted.*

1.6 European settlers

From the 1850s, several Pakeha families came into the Whareroa/Paekakariki area to
farm the land which included areas currently within the Queen Elizabeth Park.

Captain Henry Lynch of the 65th Regiment of Foot arrived in New Zealand in 1846 and
was soon engaged in the action against Te Rangihaeata at the Battle Hill conflict in the
Horokiri Valley. In 1852 it is said that he was granted property stretching from the north
of Paekakariki through to Paraparaumu which he named Emerald Glen.* Whether this
was actually within the park is unlikely as this land was only sold by its Maori owners
in 1859. At some point it does appear, however, that some of the park’s land was
occupied by the Lynch family.

From 1860, John Telford established a sheep farm know as ‘“Waremoko’ and this
extended around and south of current-day Raumati and presumably included the
northern part of the park. In August 1879, William Bentinck Howell leased much of this
land off Telford for £100 per annum for 10 years. The 1,335-acre run carried 800 sheep.
In 1884 Howell agreed to buy another 600 acres or so, on deferred payment, with the
result that he then held an approximately 2,000 acre farm that extended all the way
down to Whareroa Stream. Howell continued leasing and acquired a right of purchase
of the whole farm by the late 1880s. He began draining the swamps in between the
sandhills and establishing pasture.’!

48 AJHR, 1874 G7, p.17 and 1878 G2, p.20

49 Carkeek, op cit, p.158

50 Wellington Regional Council 1993, op cit, pp.48-9
51 Geoff Thompson in Baldwin, op cit, pp.58-9



In the meantime, Arthur MacKay, who had arrived in New Zealand in 1840, was
granted land in the vicinity of the park in 1870 with his brother.? Dating from 1876,
the family leased more of the Whareroa plateau including, presumably, areas that
are currently in the southern part of the park.” The land north of Paekakariki was
described as being rough with stands of high manuka covering places.>

At one stage, the Smith brothers — Francis, Isaac and Stephen — came to farm in the
Whareroa district.”® Eventually, Herbert Phillips, Secretary of the Wellington firm Levin
and Co., bought the land from the Emerald Green area (midway in the park) up to
Poplar Avenue (Raumati South) as a hobby farm for his retirement. There he sought to
create a model farm raising sheep, cows and pigs.*

As the farmers took up land, communication routes into the district improved.

A track road, roughly in the same position as today’s highway, was built to MacKays
homestead by 1871 and onto the Lynch’s lands.”” By 1900, a road from MacKays
crossing to the Old Coach road on the beach at the Whareroa Stream, had

been established."

Although there had been a significant railway building period in the lower North
Island by the 1870s, the Kapiti Coast had missed out. In 1874 a line was built extending
from Wellington to the Hutt Valley, over to Wairarapa as far as Woodville, through the
Manawatu Gorge and on to Palmerston North where branch lines extended down to
Foxton and north to Wanganui. By 1878, public pressure had risen for a western coast
railway line to link Wellington with Foxton. A number of routes were considered.

The one chosen was from Wellington up the Ngaio Gorge to Johnsonville and on to
Paekakariki. The work that began on this route in 1879, and was completed through

to Pakekakariki, was soon brought to an end when the Government was voted out of
power in October of that year. A Royal Commission, established to examine various
railway developments within the country, recommended that the western line be
discontinued. In response, several prominent Wellingtonians formed the North Island
West Coast Railway Company and worked with the Government to gain permission
and assistance to recommence the work. Beginning in September 1882, work on the line
started from both ends — Paekakariki and Longburn. The two lines met at Otaihanga on
3 November 1886. The Company was allowed to operate the line for 25 years, and in
December 1908, the line was purchased and taken over the Government.*

After the building of the railroad, villages at Paekakariki, Paraparaumu and Waikanae
were soon established. Raumati was settled as a village from 1908. The current road
from Paekakariki to Paraparaumu, which now makes up one of the boundaries of the
park, was completed just before the turn of the century.®® From the 1920s, the Raumati —
Paraparaumu area developed as a holiday resort with people from Wellington building
seaside cottages there.*!
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United States Marines Camps Russell and MacKay, 1942/43.
Alexander Turnball Library
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1.7 Encampment of the United States Marines

A significant development within the park’s history was
the locating of three large campsites to house United
States Marines during World War II. In May 1942, Lt
Colonel Twining arrived from the United States to consider
the establishment of bases and training camps in the
Wellington region for the imminent arrival of

the troops. As a major focus of the training in preparation
for the Pacific campaign would be on beach landing

and defence, the sandy western coastline provided the
ideal conditions. In addition, the area between Paekakariki
and Paraparaumu was the closest rural coastline of this
nature to Wellington. Three camps were to be established
to house 15,000 men. One was built adjacent to the
MacKays Crossing entrance to the park and named

Camp Russell. Across the road, and outside of the park’s
boundaries, Camp MacKay was set up on the area today
occupied by Whareroa Farm. The third installation

— Camp Paekakariki — was located around what is now the
southern entrance to the park.®?

Land for the camps was taken for temporary occupation under wartime regulations
with Camp Russell including land from the MacKay family and Camp Paekakariki
being located primarily on Maori land within the Wainui Block. The Public Works
Department was given only six weeks to establish the camps but this was accomplished,
although it took a large force of 150 tradesmen to achieve this. Pre-fabricated huts were
erected, roads, streets and paths were laid out, and water, sewerage and electricity
utilities were established. The first camp built was Camp MacKay.%

On 14 June 1942, the 5th Regiment of the 1st Division, United States Marine Corps
arrived at Camp MacKay. Their stay only lasted for six weeks, however, with the
soldiers soon disembarking with other units for the first American ground offensive
in the Pacific — the invasion of Guadalcanal (Solomon Islands). On their departure, the
building of the other camps in the area continued in anticipation of the arrival of
further troops.

After six months of fighting on Guadalcanal, the 2nd Division was withdrawn
and several regiments returned to Camp Russell for rest and recreation and
continued training. American author Leon Uris recalls the response when he and
the other troops were told of their return to the Paekakariki camps.

A roar of cheers greeted the news and there was a lot of handshaking

and backslapping. We were going back to the land we loved. I couldn’t help
feeling soft about it even after so many years of traveling from pillar to post
in the Marine Corps.®*

The 8" Regiment occupied Camp Paekakariki, the 2nd at Camp Russell and the 6th
Regiment at Camp MacKay. They remained until October 1943.

62 Bevan, Denys United States forces in New Zealand, 1942-1945, Alexandra: Macpherson, 1992, p.96.
Also Wellington Regional Council 1993, op cit, p.50

3 Bevan, op cit, pp.149-50. Also Wellington Regional Council 1993, op cit, p.50

64 Bioletti, Harry The yanks are coming: the American invasion of New Zealand, 1942-1944, Auckland, :
Random House NZ, 1995, p.159



Although there were some huts located at the camps, the main form of accommodation
was tents with wooden floors. The marines were always keen to improve their living
conditions as one New Zealand electrician who worked at the camp later recalled:

They thought nothing of shinning up a pole and attaching a wire to
connect a toaster or a light. They always wanted electric lights in their
tents and they would rip out the fittings in the ablution blocks in order to
replace their kerosene lamps. There were several accidents in connection
with illegal installations.®

The landscape around the camps provided opportunities for training. The rural land
enabled practising with mortars and other artillery. Once a shell misfired and landed
in Paekakariki township.® Marches up the steep Paekakariki Hill Road, nicknamed
the ‘Little Burma Road’, kept fitness levels up. Training also focused on amphibian
landings. Despite the apparent safety of the Paekakariki beaches, one serious incident
occurred on 20 June 1943 during a night exercise. The series of landings taking place,
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which were code-named Marnavex, involved Marine units landing against opposition
and encountering live firing by machine guns and artillery. In heavy surf, one of the
landing craft got stuck on a sandbar and had to be towed off.?” As this took place, the
landing craft was swamped by a wave sending many crew and soldiers over board.
Quick action saved many lives but nine personnel, all naval crew, were lost, their bodies
being recovered over the following days. The news of the tragedy was not publicly
announced at the time.%

The establishment of the camps brought changes for the local community.

Building Camp Russell meant tearing up the Paekakariki golf course. In addition,
temporary buildings including a milk bar, florist, dry cleaner and a bakehouse were
erected off the camp sites on private land to provide

extra facilities. One local resident later recalled: “Alongside
the school at Paekakariki was the first ‘take-away’ that I can
ever remember where the troops could buy sausages, chips,

hamburgers, etc. It made a fortune.”® It is said that as the area
north of the camps at Paraparaumu and Waikane were ‘dry’
whilst Paekakariki had a liquor licence, the marines who visited
north “were essentially those who were looking for family
relationships whereas those who were wishing to enjoy the wine,
women, song and excitement went south...””

On 29 October 1943, the withdrawal from the camps began and
was completed in four days. In some cases stores such as food

items were given to the local Paekakariki population rather than
transport it. In other cases, things were deliberately destroyed as  united States Marines in camp lining up between huts at the

one local resident recalled: military camp at Paekakariki: June 1942
Alexander Turnbull Library, PAColl-0783-2-0249

...refrigerators, washing machines, you name it, were run
over by the bulldozers or burnt. Nothing was allowed to go on the market
to be sold. If they couldn’t take it with them it was destroyed.”

% Ibid, pp.165-6

% Ibid, p.167

67 Ross McPherson in Baldwin,op cit, p.77

8 Bioletti, op cit, p.162

% Tbid, p.168

70 Macdonald Garioch-Clunie in Baldwin, op cit, p.81

71 Bioletti, op cit, p.167 15
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After their departure from Paekakariki, the troops headed to Tarawa Atoll (now part of
Kiribati) to storm the Japanese positions on the island. This occurred on 20 November
with the Division suffering 3,300 casualties in only three days of fighting. The Division
went on to campaigns in Saipan and Okinawa.

In 1962, commemorative gates were built at the MacKays Crossing entrance to Queen
Elizabeth Park. In 1992, the 50 year anniversary was marked with local celebrations.

1.8 The establishment of a regional park

Soon after the departure of the Marines, the Government considered what it would
do with the land it had temporarily acquired. In April 1941, the Hutt County Council
had approached the Minister of Internal Affairs, concerned that likely future housing
subdivision in the Raumati-Paekakariki area would lessen public access to the coast.
The Council proposed that a 200-metre coastal strip be retained in public ownership.
Instead of limiting the response solely to acquiring this coastal strip, the Government
began to consider other options. In 1945, Cabinet directed that a committee be created
to report on possible future utilisation of the land acquired for the Marines’ camps.
One set of suggestions came from the Wellington City Council Town Planner in
August 1947. He envisaged that the area now in the park would become a significant
holiday and recreational resort for the region. It was estimated that a mixture of self-
contained family units, cabins with shared communal facilities, hostels and camping
grounds should be built that would be sufficient to accommodate up to 5,000 persons
a night. The Town Planner noted that a swimming pool would be required for when
beach conditions were dangerous and that a community centre would be built with
shops, a restaurant-cafetaria, a cinema to seat 1,500 persons, a social hall with library
and dance hall and a health centre. Two golf courses were to be established which the
Town Planner had been advised “could be made one of the finest courses in

the Dominion”. He expected that on peak days crowds of up to 40,000 people would
come to the park and this would cause transport difficulties that would be solved by
extending the railway directly into the park. He even contemplated the possibility

of a small airfield for private planes to land on.” Based on reports such as this which
supported the feasibility of establishing a resort, the Crown began to purchase
additional land to increase the area of the park.

Despite the Town Planner’s enthusiastic report, the first committee did not come

up with any specific recommendations. In June 1948, Cabinet directed that the
development of the land be put on hold for several years. In the meantime, the land was
to be farmed by the Department of Lands and Survey with a 450-acre dairy unit being
established on a share-milking basis for city supply purposes whilst the remaining 1,200
acres would be run as a sheep and cattle farm.”

No definite steps were taken towards the development of the park until 1951 when
Cabinet directed that a second committee of representative departments and local
councils be formed to develop the 1,630 acres “for the purpose of recreation and for the
health and welfare of the population...””*

One of the matters that had held up development had been the possibility that the
highway north would be taken right through the middle of the park. By the beginning
of 1952, however, the decision had been made to take the road around the eastern
borders of the land held by the Crown.

72 25 Aug 1952, Report of Special Planning Committee, ATL 75-156-05, file 54/74, p.1
73 3 Dec 1951, Regional Planning Officer, WCC to Wgtn Regional Planning Council, ATL 75-156-05, file 54 /74
74 28 Aug 1947, Mawson to McKillop, ATL 75-156-05, file 54 /74



When the new committee reported in August 1952, they believed they were dealing
with a “gem of national importance” and held high aspirations for what could

be achieved:

The committee visualises the ultimate completion of a central resort which
the population of New Zealand will be anxious to visit and where facilities
of all kinds and descriptions, not excluding first class accommodation. ..
will be provided for the enjoyment of all comers whatever their financial

resources may be.

Undoubtedly this project is a milestone in the history of New Zealand and
the committee has approached the problem with this thought in mind.”

Such grandiose comments were often repeated by those involved. At one point the
Major of Wellington described the reserves as being “a bigger Hagley Park for the city.”

Of the 1,627 acres in the park, 700 acres was to be set aside for recreation, 125 acres
for picnics and camping, 100 acres of roading, 412 acres as foreshore reserve and 290
acres remaining as farmland to continue the dairy operations. The recreation area was
envisaged as being “an immense playground with facilities of every nature catering
for the welfare and enjoyment of the population on New Zealand.” It was seriously
believed that as this park was midway between Invercargill and Auckland, that it
would be magnet for holiday makers.”

As plans for the park proceeded, steps were taken to formally acquire the

necessary land. With the land that had been used for the Marine Camp, instead of
compensation being paid for the occupation, negotiations to formally take the land
and award full compensation occurred. Other pieces of land, including the 20-acre
Whareroa Maori reserve were taken under “better utilisation” clauses available in
public works legislation, while several blocks held by members of the MacKay, Lynch,
Smith, McKenzie and Budge families were negotiated for.

A view overlooking Paekakariki with the land now in Queen Elizabeth Park to the north, c.1960s:
Alexander Turnbull Library, 1/2-046845; G
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During development, the park was given several different names including the
Whareroa Recreation Reserve and the Paekakariki Reserve. By the time of the August
1952 report, Marine Park was favoured. This name had a dual linkage with the Marines
camped there during the War and the marine environment that was a key feature of
the park.” Within a matter of months it was renamed Queen Elizabeth Park to coincide
with the 1953 Royal Visit during which the Queen officially opened the park. By then
the park had been legally established by the Queen Elizabeth Park Domain Act 1953.
The park was to be administered by a Board which would operate through until 1990
when the Wellington Regional Council took over administration. The Board was made
up of representatives of central government departments and local authorities.

The Board and the park were funded from levies on local authorities as well as profits
from the Lands and Survey farms located within the parks boundaries as well as
neighbouring Whareroa farm. As a separate agreement, the Wellington City Council,
in response to a perceived shortage of sports grounds, took a lease-in-perpetuity over
230 acres of land to develop into playing fields.

Soon after the park was officially opened, a set of bylaws were passed for the control
and administration of the domain. They included clauses that sought to protect the
users of the park and some restrictions relating to dogs, fires, rubbish and camping are
of obvious necessity. There were others, however, that were somewhat interesting.

 Dangerous Weapons: Except with the prior written permission of the Board,
no person shall within the Domain carry or use any weapon or instrument of a
dangerous character (including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing
provisions, any bow and arrow, catapult or shanghai).

* Throwing Stones, etc: No person shall throw any stick, stone, or other miss